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In December 1943 I wrote a poem which I gave to Violette Szabo to use as a code.


This book is dedicated to all those who have shared it with her.





The life that I have


Is all that I have


And the life that I have


Is yours.





The love that I have


Of the life that I have


Is yours and yours and yours.





A sleep I shall have


A rest I shall have


Yet death will be but a pause.





For the peace of my years


In the long green grass


Will be yours and yours and yours.
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ONE


A Hard Man to Place


In January 1942 I was escorted to the war by my parents in case I couldn’t find it or met with an accident on the way. In one hand I clutched my railway warrant – the first prize I had ever won; in the other I held a carefully wrapped black-market chicken. My mother, who had begun to take God seriously the day I was called up, strode protectively beside me – praying that the train would never arrive, cursing the Führer when she saw that it had and blessing the porter who found me a seat. Mother would have taken my place if she could, and might have shortened the war if she had.


My father, who was scarcely larger than the suitcases he insisted on carrying, was an antiquarian bookseller whose reading was confined to the spines of books and the contents of the Freemasons’ Chronicle. His shop was called Marks & Co. and its address was 84 Charing Cross Road. He never read the gentle little myth by Helene Hanff;* long before it was published he’d become one himself.


My parents accompanied their only joint venture to the door of the train and, for the first time in twenty years, prepared to relinquish him. Mother’s farewell to her only child was the public’s first glimpse of open-heart surgery. Latecomers were offered a second. As I entered the carriage clutching my chicken and bowler hat, she called out at the top of her voice – if it had one – ‘LOOK AFTER MY BOY.’


The captain in the seat opposite me accepted the brief. To distract me from the spectacle of Mother comforting Father and the stationmaster comforting them both, he silently proffered his cigarette case. I indicated my virgin pipe.


‘Going far, old son?’


My security-minded nod convinced him, if Mother’s performance hadn’t already, that I was being despatched to some distant outpost of what remained of Empire. I was, in fact, going all the way to Bedford.





I had been accepted as a pupil at a school for cryptographers. Gaining admission hadn’t been easy: I’d written to the War Office, the Foreign Office and the Admiralty, enclosing specimens of my home-made codes with a curriculum vitae based loosely on fact, but no more loosely than their formal replies stating that my letters were receiving attention. Since codes meant as much to me as Spitfires did to those who had guts, I resolved to make one last try and suddenly remembered that I had a godfather named Major Jack Dermot O’Reilly who worked in the Special Branch at Scotland Yard. I also remembered that Major Jack (like Father) was a Freemason, a branch of the Spiritual Secret Service for which I was still too young.


Arriving at the Special Branch unannounced, I called upon Major Jack carrying my codes in my gas-mask case, which he clearly considered was the most appropriate place for them. However, he must have put his ‘brother’ before his country because a few prayers later I was invited by the War Office to attend an interview at Bedford ‘to discuss my suitability for certain work of national importance’.


My audition took place at a large private house which tried to ramble but hadn’t the vitality. A friendly sergeant told me the CO was expecting me – and I had my first meeting with Major Masters, the headmaster of the code-breaking school. He began the interview by asking what my hobbies were.


‘Incunabula and intercourse, sir.’


It slipped out and wasn’t even accurate; I’d had little experience of one and couldn’t afford the other. I suspected that he wasn’t sure what incunabula were and added: ‘And chess too, sir – when there’s time,’ which proved a better gambit.


I answered the rest of his questions honestly – with one exception. He asked me how I first became interested in codes. There is only one person to whom I’ve ever told the truth about this and we hadn’t yet met. The reply I concocted didn’t impress him. I didn’t think much else had either.


Three weeks later I received his letter of acceptance.





The school for code-breakers was the only one of its kind in England and its founding father, patron saint and principal customer was Britain’s cryptographic supremo, John Tiltman. According to O’Reilly, Tiltman’s talent had already received the ultimate Intelligence accolade: it had made him a bargaining counter with the Americans.


The course was due to last for eight weeks, at the end of which the students would be graded and sent to Bletchley Park, which was Tiltman’s workshop and the headquarters of the cryptographic department, known in the trade as MI8.


Fifteen new pupils, including two young women, had been selected for the course and we sat at separate desks in a large, bright room, studying the mating habits of the alphabet, counting the frequency of letters and working our way through exercises which gradually became more difficult until we were ready to tackle codes of military and diplomatic level.


For a short while the whole class seemed to be moving in orderly mental convoy towards the promised land of Bletchley. But amongst those potential problem masters there was one confirmed problem pupil. I knew that if I didn’t break behaviour patterns as well as codes, I would be lucky to last the term – a prospect which made me keep peace with my teachers for a personal best of about a week. The regression started when I felt a code of my own simmering inside me. This unwanted pregnancy was accompanied by morning sickness, which took the form of questioning the quality of the exercises which were supposed to extend us. I was convinced that the school’s methods of teaching would be better suited to a crash course in accountancy. The decline was irreversible when I tried to find quicker ways of breaking codes than the ones prescribed for us and began to chase cryptographic mirages of my own making. Having somehow absorbed a few tricks of the trade, I spent hours trying to devise codes which would be proof against them. Although possibly not quite the waste of time it was then pronounced to be, this was still chronic indiscipline masquerading as creative impulse.


The chief instructor was a patient, conscientious lieutenant named Cheadle. He wandered round the classroom once a day, peering hopefully over the students’ shoulders – urging us to ‘dig out the root problems like a corn’. When he came to my desk, he found nothing to excise. He was like a chiropodist treating a wooden leg which insisted on kicking him.


By the time I was halfway through the course, all the others had reached the final exercise. Since I had no hope of closing the gap, I decided I had nothing to lose by vaulting it. It was strictly against the rules for any student to remove work from the premises; there was no law against memorising it. By scanning the code until it became my favourite face, I was able to take all its key features home with me, slightly blemished by the spots before my eyes.


‘Home’ in Bedfordshire, a county which deserved its duke, was a boarding house – one of many in which the students were billeted. I had been instructed to tell the landlady that I was from the Ministry of Information. At supper time that night mine hostess, as usual, placed a piece of Spam beside me and the code surrendered at the sight of it. It laid down its arms and said, ‘Enough.’ The rest was just hard work, a matter of gathering it in. Twenty-four hours later I was the proud possessor of a finished exercise.


Nobody had told me that it was intended to be a ‘team effort’ spread across a week. A bemused Lieutenant Cheadle showed my work to a highly suspicious Major Masters, who immediately tightened internal security. However, as so often happens in such matters, what is tightened at one end becomes loosened at the other and I was able to catch a glimpse of my confidential report.


It might have been written by the high master of St Paul’s who would have expelled me had he not been a client of 84’s: ‘In his determination to find short cuts, he is apt to be slap-dash and erratic … though his approach shows some signs of originality, he is a very hard man to teach and will, I believe, be an even harder one to place …’


I wondered what arrangements Bedford made to dispose of its waste product.


The friendly sergeant was never friendlier than at mid-evening, when he was prepared to reveal whatever he had heard on the grapevine in exchange for a little of the grape.


The rest of my course was going to Bletchley. As for its solitary failure, an interview had been arranged for me with ‘some potty outfit in Baker Street, an open house for misfits’. If even they didn’t want me, I would be regarded as unmarketable.


‘It’s called Inter Services Research Bureau,’ said the sergeant. He lowered his voice. ‘It’s got another name, too. SOE or SOD or something.’


It had many names, Sergeant.


One of them was Bedlam.


*


The personnel officer who screened me at 64 Baker Street conducted the entire interview in the mistaken belief that I was closely related to Sir Simon Marks, the head of Marks & Spencer – an illusion which I was careful to encourage. It took me a little while to grasp what the ‘potty outfit’ was after from the great outfitters.


The answer was space.


The largest of the many buildings which SOE occupied in and around Baker Street was Michael House – which had been the headquarters of Marks & Spencer. SOE badly needed extra canteen facilities in Michael House and only Marks & Spencer could grant them. The personnel officer made it clear that Sir Simon had already proved to be a most accommodating landlord and SOE was reluctant to impose upon him further.


If I was decoding the gist correctly, he was trying to assess whether I was suitably disposed to use my good offices to canvass even better ones. Unfortunately I had never met Sir Simon – but even more unfortunately, I had met, and couldn’t stop meeting, his only son Michael, the heir presumptive to the kingdom of M&S. We had had the incinerating experience of going to several schools together, including St Paul’s, of being put in the same classes and of being mistaken for brothers. We had finally tossed a coin (his) to decide which of us would change his name, an arrangement which he failed to honour. The princeling had not been a bit impressed when his father named Michael House after him, but he’d woken up sharply when Sir Simon offered him a cash bonus for every unwrapped orange he found in a Marks & Spencer store. I imparted these ‘hot’ family titbits to the enthralled personnel officer, and before he could enquire where Leo House was I assured him that I would nudge Sir Simon in the right direction the next time we dined together. A few days after this solemn undertaking ‘Uncle Simon’ volunteered the canteen facilities, which did no harm at all to my SOE scorecard. Marks & Spencer’s greatest asset always was its timing.


I was also interviewed, skilfully and inscrutably, by Captain Dansey, the head of Codes, who indicated that he would think me over. A week later I signed the Official Secrets Act and was told to report to Dansey at nine in the morning.


On that last day of my innocence the personnel officer beamingly confirmed that I was to receive the equivalent of a second lieutenant’s pay and then added, as tactfully as he was able, that my employment would be subject to review at the end of the month.


He was wrong again.


It was to be subject to review at the end of one day.





SOE’s code department and teleprinter rooms occupied the whole of a mews building at the back of Michael House and I had my first glimpse of the wonders of Danseyland when an armed escort took me on an intensive route march to the captain’s office, where I was handed over like a parcel of dubious content in exchange for an official receipt. This was standard SOE procedure for those who had yet to be issued with passes.


The sharp-eyed captain and his jovial deputy, Lieutenant Owen, explained that SOE’s main function was dropping agents into Europe, and that my job would be to ‘keep an eye on the security of their codes’. They then decided to test their new boy’s ability. I was handed a message in code, put into an adjacent room and left there to break it. I knew from the little they had said about the code that it was one of the first Bedford had taught us to crack. If I risked no short cuts I should reach the code’s jugular by the end of the day.


Dansey came in half an hour later to see if I’d finished but I was still taking a frequency count (this is the cryptographic equivalent of feeling a pulse). He looked at me with a hint of disappointment – then smiled encouragingly and went out. It was then ten o’clock.


An hour later he was back again. The code’s pulse was regular. Dansey’s wasn’t. ‘Marks,’ he said softly.


‘Sir?’


‘Do you know how long it took my girls to crack that code? … Twenty minutes.’


‘Sir, it takes me thirty just to clean my glasses.’


I hoped he was joking. He closed the door behind him and I knew that he wasn’t.


At one o’clock Lieutenant Owen put his head round the door, watched the poor struggler as long as he could bear to, and said I was free to go to lunch if I wished. I didn’t.


At four o’clock a bespectacled young lady put some tea on my desk. She departed hastily with each eye laughing at a different joke.


At a quarter to five I knocked on the door of Dansey’s office and put the decoded message in front of him.


Dansey and Owen sat in silence. They were in mourning for their judgement. I knew I had failed and hoped it wouldn’t prevent them from giving someone competent a chance. I thanked my ex-bosses for my tea and turned to go.


‘Leave the code here, please.’


‘What code, sir?’


Dansey closed his eyes but they continued glaring. ‘The code you broke it with!’


‘You didn’t give me one, sir.’


‘What the hell are you talking about? How did you decode that message if I didn’t give you one?’


‘You told me to break it, sir.’


He was one of the few people who could look efficient with his mouth open. ‘You mean you broke it’, he said, as if referring to his heart, ‘without a code?’


I had always understood that was what breaking a code meant, but this was no time for semantics. ‘How was I expected to do it, sir?’


‘The way the girls do, with all the bumph in front of them. A straightforward job of decoding, that’s all I was after! So we could test your speed. And compare it with theirs.’


‘You mean, sir – that SOE is actually using this code?’


‘We were,’ said Owen. ‘We have others now.’


They looked at each other. Something seemed to occur to them simultaneously. They operated like two ends of a teleprinter.


‘Come with us, Marks.’


The three of us crowded into my workroom, which by now resembled an indoor tobacco plantation. Dansey didn’t smoke. After a few moments of intensive rummaging he lifted a pyramid of papers and pointed to a blue card with a code typed on it in capital letters. He smiled as he held it up. His efficiency was vindicated.


I walked up to him till I was level with the pips on his shoulder. I had a request to make and, for the first time in far too long, it wasn’t wholly self-interested. ‘May I see those other codes, sir?’





The Baker Street code room, which Dansey and Owen ran with an efficiency and precision ‘Uncle Simon’ would have envied, was essentially a main-line code room. Its function was to communicate with embassies and base stations around the world using code books and one-time pads which provided the highest possible level of security and were cryptographically unbreakable even by Tiltman. It was the luxury end of the business.


The agents in the field had to use their codes in conditions of difficulty and danger which were unique in the history of coding. Their traffic was handled in that main-line code room by anyone available to do it. The volume of main-line traffic allowed no specialisation. Each girl had to be a multi-purpose coder, able in theory to switch from main-line traffic to agents’ at a moment’s notice, though the system called for very different aptitudes, attitudes and disciplines.


The responsibility for both main-line and agents’ codes was vested in Dansey and Owen. Each of them had an asset which was rare in SOE – the ability to know what he was best at doing. They had repeatedly tried to persuade SOE that agents’ traffic needed a cryptographer to supervise it – and permission had finally been given to add one to the staff. His brief, as SOE conceived it, was a simple one. All he would be required to do was ‘keep an eye on the security of agents’ traffic’ – and perhaps break one or two of the indecipherable messages which poured in from the field.


The agents were using poems for their codes. Or famous quotations. Or anything they could easily remember. This concept of clandestine coding had been adopted by SOE because of a theory, traditional in Intelligence, that if an agent were caught and searched it was better security if his code were in his head. I had a gut feeling right from the start that this theory was wrong, and hoped that whoever advised SOE that the poem-code was suitable for agents would try performing its paper gymnastics in the field.


The slightest mistake in the coding, a second’s lapse of concentration, would render the entire message indecipherable. Frequently as much as 20 per cent of SOE’s traffic could not be decoded due to agents’ errors.


Whenever SOE received an indecipherable the agent responsible was instructed to re-encode it and have it ready for his next transmission.


I was prepared to fight this malpractice by whatever means I could.


If some shit-scared wireless operator, surrounded by direction-finding cars which were after him like sniffer dogs, who lacked electric light to code by or squared paper to code on – if that agent hadn’t the right to make mistakes in his coding without being ordered to do the whole job again at the risk of his life, then we hadn’t the right to call ourselves a coding department.


Surely the answer was simple? Squads of girls must be specially trained to break agents’ indecipherables. Records must be kept of the mistakes agents made in training – they might be repeating them in the field. SOE would need more coders – and would have to compete for them in the far-from-open market. There must be no such thing as an agent’s indecipherable.


Dansey didn’t disagree with any of this. He simply pointed out a major obstacle of which I knew nothing. The name of that obstacle was Chain of Command.


All SOE’s communications were under the control of the Signals directorate. Since these communications were worldwide, this empire-builder’s paradise embraced main-line and agents’ codes, all wireless stations, all wireless training schools, all wireless equipment – and one or two research establishments which no one had found time to visit.


The head of the Signals conglomerate, Colonel Ozanne, was a problem to which no solution compatible with law was remotely in sight. A one-man obstacle course, the colonel was opposed to any kind of change except in his rank. He elected to concentrate on main-line communications whilst taking an ‘overall view’ of everything else, though he often had difficulty in focusing his viewfinder, especially after lunch. His second in command, Colonel George Pollock, controlled the wireless stations, the training schools and agents’ communications generally. This hierarchical structure put Dansey in the delicate position of being answerable to Ozanne for main-line codes and to Pollock for agents’.


Pollock’s peacetime occupation posed problems of a special kind. He was a highly successful barrister who’d been well on his way to becoming a judge, and he used the Signals directorate as an extension of his chambers. All Dansey’s requests were subjected to litigation and the verdict invariably went against him. Though Dansey never hesitated to stand up and be frequency-counted, he was in every respect outranked. The colonel disliked the untidy conveyancing which placed Dansey under his command but not under his control and had made several attempts to take agents’ codes away from him, the last of which had almost succeeded.


Dansey warned me that I must do nothing which would give him an excuse to try again. ‘In fact,’ he said, ‘you must go very carefully until your appointment is confirmed. And, after that, old boy – you must go more carefully still.’


I managed to comply for two whole weeks.


*


Even SOE knew that for security reasons all messages to and from the field had to be at least two hundred letters long – one more dangerous disadvantage of the poem-code. The country section officers who originated messages had acquired the appalling habit of sending the same text to as many as a dozen different agents with only marginal changes of phrasing.


The poem-code simply couldn’t stand up to these mass-produced texts. If the enemy broke one agent’s messages they would know what to look for in their other intercepts – it would be an anagrammer’s delight.


I made my first contact with Buckmaster of the French section, Hardy Amies of the Belgian, Hollingsworth of the Danish, Blizzard of the Dutch, Wilson of the Norwegian and Piquet-Wicks of another French section, though I wasn’t yet sure why there had to be two. I asked them to paraphrase their messages and free their language whenever possible, and mistook their acquiescence for security-mindedness instead of the quickest way to get me off the telephone.


The next time I held out the begging bowl on behalf of the infirm poem-code was for a very different ailment, and the remedy was even less to their liking.


To encode a message an agent had to choose five words at random from his poem and give each letter of these words a number. He then used these numbers to jumble and juxtapose his clear text. To let his Home Station know which five words he had chosen, he inserted an indicator group at the beginning of his message. But if one message was broken – just one – the enemy cryptographers could mathematically reconstruct those five words and would at once try to identify their source.


Amongst SOE’s best-sellers were Shakespeare, Keats, Tennyson, Molière, Racine, Rabelais, Poe and the Bible.


One agent had been allowed to use the National Anthem, the only verses which he claimed to remember: suppose the enemy broke one of his messages and the five words he’d encoded it on were ‘our’, ‘gracious’, ‘him’, ‘victorious’, ‘send’, then God save the agent. They could sing the rest of the code themselves and read all his future traffic without breaking another message.


Even works less familiar to the Germans than the National Anthem – the Lord’s Prayer perhaps – would cause them no problems. Reference books are jackboots when used by cryptographers. But if our future poem-codes were original compositions written by members of SOE, no reference books would be of the slightest help in tracing them. Not even Marks & Co.’s.


It would make it slightly more difficult for SOE’s messages to be read like daily newspapers if we started a Baker Street poets’ corner.


I hadn’t thought that writing poetry would be my contribution to Hitler’s downfall, but it would at least prevent the Germans from using our traffic for their higher education. Striding up and down the corridors like the Poet Laureate of Signals, I did what I could to make my poems easy to memorise, less easy to anticipate, but I was obliged to turn to the country sections for help with their respective languages. I again telephoned Messrs Buckmaster, Amies, Hollingsworth, Blizzard, Wilson and Piquet-Wicks and asked if they would kindly write some poetry for me in their respective languages.


Rumour began to spread that there was an outbreak of insanity in the Signals directorate.


It was well founded. Agents were making so many mistakes in their coding that breaking their indecipherables single-handed against the clock was like being the only doctor in a hospital full of terminal patients. And the biggest indecipherable of all was SOE itself.


Formal acceptance into the organisation had brought me no closer to understanding it. All it had produced was a pass of my own which I could rarely find and a desk in Owen’s office which I rarely left. Although the code room was only a few yards away, I seldom visited it as main-line codes were none of my business. All maimed agents’ messages were brought in to me, as the girls had neither the time nor the training to mend the fractures.


The prospect of ever being able to form a code-breaking team seemed even more remote when Dansey’s foreboding hardened into fact. Ozanne transferred all agents’ traffic to the wireless station at Grendon Underwood. The coding was to be done by groups of FANYs (First Aid Nursing Yeomanry). The takeover was to be in August, only a few weeks away. Dansey would still be in charge of agents’ codes – but this could be changed at the flick of a mood swing. He warned me not to visit Station 53 without the approval of the Gauleiter of Signals.


While grim power struggles were raging throughout every directorate in SOE, I was engaged in a still grimmer one with Edgar Allan Poe.


He was the favourite author of an officer on Buckmaster’s staff named Nick Bodington, who went backwards and forwards to France as if he had a private ferry. For this trip’s traffic he’d chosen an extract from ‘The Raven’. Bodington’s message was indecipherable and I’d been impaled on the bloody bird’s beak for six consecutive hours.


The passage Bodington had chosen was:





While I nodded, nearly napping, suddenly there came a tapping,


As of someone gently rapping, rapping on my chamber door …





If the indicator group were correct, the five words he’d encoded the message on were: ‘came’, ‘chamber’, ‘my’, ‘rapping’, ‘door’. When I tried decoding it on these five, all that emerged was the Raven’s cackle.


Some three thousand attempts later I discovered that the indicator was correct and the coding perfect. All Bodington had done was omit a ‘p’ from ‘rapping’, which turned it into ‘raping’ and screwed the lot of us.


The worst part of these indecipherables was the time element. If an agent had a schedule for six o’clock, his message would have to be broken by then or his section head would insist that he repeated it. I didn’t always manage to beat the clock, but only once gave up trying.


I had been working for two days on an indecipherable from Norway contributed by an agent called Einar Skinnarland. There was something very peculiar about Skinnarland’s traffic. He gave some of his messages to a wireless operator to be transmitted in the normal way (SOE was blasé enough to regard wireless traffic as normal) – but, for reasons which the Norwegian section refused to divulge, at any rate to me, most of his traffic was smuggled into Sweden by courier and re-routed to London by cable or diplomatic bag. He had already sent one indecipherable, and the usually imperturbable Wilson had stressed to me that he must know its contents within the hour. An hour in coding terms is only a paranoid minute. I needed to know what was so special about Skinnarland’s traffic – but Wilson rang off abruptly to take another call.


That first indecipherable of Skinnarland’s had been a warming-up present from him to me and had proved no more troublesome than an undone shoelace. Wilson expected the new one to be cracked as easily. But Skinnarland had had the better of our two-day duel, and five minutes before his operator’s schedule I just had to get away from the thousands of failed attempts which littered my desk. I strolled upstairs to the teleprinter room to listen to the healthy chatter of Dansey’s mainline codes. Suddenly I knew what Skinnarland had done and saw that, if I took a short cut and drew together several columns of his message, I would get the word ‘sentries’ in one line with the word ‘Vermok’ immediately beneath it. Taking an even shorter cut to the code room by falling down the stairs, I contacted Station 53 on the direct line.


The operator was still on the air, about to be asked to repeat the message. I told the signalmaster to cancel the instruction and send the Morse equivalent of ‘Piss off fast.’


Breaking that indecipherable to the applause of my public meant far more to me at the time than that factory in remotest Vermok which Skinnarland had described in minutest detail. The rest of SOE remained equally remote.


The most distinguished visitors to our mews stronghold were the night duty officers who collected the confidential waste and the ladies who pushed around the tea trolley twice a day like sisters of mercy. But one afternoon I was struggling with yet another indecipherable from Skinnarland, who was rapidly becoming my least favourite agent, when I heard an uncommonly authoritative, disconcertingly purposeful barrage of footsteps coming our way. A moment later an RAF officer strode into the room and commandeered it without a word being spoken. I had never seen anger of such quality and substance, power and purpose as this man projected. It should have been weighed by the pound and sold as an example.


I forgot about Skinnarland as he advanced on my startled superior, making no attempt to conceal his repugnance at a pink slip (an internal message to Station 53) which was clutched in his outstretched hand.


‘Who’s responsible for sending this?’


‘He is.’


The flight lieutenant transferred his attention to me, and his first question set the tone of our encounter: ‘Who the devil are you?’


Every officer in SOE was allocated a symbol for use in correspondence; Dansey’s was DYC, Owen’s DYC/O. At last I had a chance to use mine. ‘DYC/M,’ I said, quoting it with relish.


‘Tony had a sked at nine tonight. You’ve bloody cancelled it! Why?’


Tony was an agent stranded in France with the Gestapo searching for him. A Lysander was standing by to pick him up, but his message giving map references had been indecipherable. He was due to repeat it.


‘I cancelled it’, I said, ‘because an hour ago we broke it after three thousand, one hundred and fifty-four attempts.’


Skinnarland’s indecipherable whispered something to me in its coding sleep.


‘How did you break it?’


A word was forming which could be ‘mountain’.


‘HOW DID YOU BREAK IT?’


It was ‘mountain’.


‘By guess and by God,’ I said without looking up.


‘Really, DYC/M? And which were you?’


‘Barren mountain’ – I hoped it would make sense to Wilson.


‘Flight Lieutenant, if you come back in a year’s time I may have finished this bugger, and I’ll be glad to answer all your questions.’


‘Very well, DYC/M. I’ll look in again the Christmas after next, if you haven’t won the war by then.’


He closed the hangar door behind him. I could still feel him looking at me.


‘Who was that sod?’


‘Didn’t you know? That’s Yeo-Thomas. Our Tommy! … he’s quite a character.’


I didn’t realise it at the time but ‘quite a character’ was even more of an understatement than 84’s tax returns.


Note


*    84 Charing Cross Road (André Deutsch, 1971).




TWO


The Pilot Light


SOE’s security checks were so insecure that I thought the real ones were being withheld from me. Their function was to tell us whether an agent was coding under duress. To convey this to us without the enemy being aware of it, he was required to insert various dummy letters in the body of each message – and their absence or alteration in any way was supposed to alert us immediately to his capture. As an additional ‘precaution’ he was instructed to make deliberate spelling mistakes at prearranged spots. The whole concept had all the validity of a child’s excuses for staying up late, with none of the imagination. It took no account of the possibility of an agent’s code being broken or tortured out of him, when the Gestapo would be in a position to work out the security checks for themselves. Nor did it make any allowances for Morse mutilation, which frequently garbled so much of the text that it was impossible to tell whether the security checks – for what little they were worth – were present.


I had already been puzzled by the traffic of a Dutch agent named Abor who’d been dropped into Holland in March. He’d sent a string of properly encoded messages – yet all of them were marked ‘SECURITY CHECKS OMITTED’, and he’d clearly made no attempt to use them from the moment he’d arrived. When I raised this with N (the Dutch) section I was told there was nothing to worry about – ‘The whole thing has been looked into; the agent’s all right.’ There was so much else to worry about that I put this enigma on one side.


I had discovered that through no fault of anyone’s (a rare situation in SOE) an agent could have a long period of waiting between leaving his training school and being despatched to the field. His ‘refresher course in coding’ was left to his original training officer, if he wasn’t too busy, or to his country-section briefing officer, if he knew how to code. In case this accounted for the high rate of indecipherables, I raised a mortgage on my confidence and offered to brief agents myself.


Word spread quickly that someone in SOE was volunteering for extra labour, and my panel practice came of age when Buckmaster asked me to brief two F-section agents named, respectively, Peter and Paul. Feeling like a pill-pusher with Messianic pretensions, I reported to F section’s Orchard Court flat to meet my first pupils.


Peter’s surname was Churchill – and thanks to a briefing from Owen I knew far more about him than he about me. This slender man, coiled in his chair like a question mark with a moustache, had got into the habit of slipping across to the south of France, usually by submarine and canoe, and staying there as long as Buckmaster and circumstances would permit. I had no idea what Peter’s new mission was but he seemed no more concerned about it than a day tripper with some business on the side. The prospect of the south of France had put him in a holiday mood and it was with some reluctance that he interrupted it for a ‘spot of coding’.


Within the next five minutes he made as many mistakes. I asked him to stop, which he did with alacrity. I knew that Peter had left Cambridge with a degree in modern languages and the reputation of being one of the finest ice-hockey blues the university had produced. Hoping to establish common ground, I discussed the ‘language of coding’, the rules of its ‘grammar’, the nature of its ‘syntax’. I told him that he ‘spoke coding’ with a bloody awful accent which would give him away, and then switched metaphors. We chose five words of his poem and lined them up as if they were members of his hockey team, and I asked him for both our sakes to remember where the goal was. He skated through two messages without one false pass and was about to try a third when he received a phone call from Buckmaster.


‘Yes, Maurice? … Meet who? … His name’s what? …’ (I was sure he could hear but being difficult was a sport for which he’d also won a blue.) ‘But Maurice, I’m still having a hockey lesson from Marks … All right then, if I must.’


He apologised for having to leave at half-time, promised not to get sent off for foul coding and hurried away.


I went next door and met my first frightened agent.


When Paul and I shook hands they needed galoshes. He seemed even more of a refugee from the civil war of adolescence than I was. He was English but spoke French like a native and was due to be dropped into France in a few nights’ time. He showed me a message he’d been working on. He’d found a way to go wrong which not even Skinnarland had thought of. He’d started by encoding his message quite normally, then switched to the process reserved for decoding it – which was like straddling two escalators going in opposite directions. This was after eight weeks of training. I took him through the whole system from beginning to end and he understood it perfectly, which was even more worrying.


He suddenly asked what would happen if he made ‘a bit of a mistake’ and sent us a message which we couldn’t decode.


I didn’t want him to know that he’d be dependent on me. I improvised a little and told him that we had a team of girls who’d been specially trained to break indecipherable messages. Each girl, I said, ‘adopted’ an agent so that if he made a mistake or two in his messages, she’d be familiar with his coding style. I then asked him to run through his poem for me and took out his code card to check the wording. He shyly admitted that Tennyson’s ‘In Memoriam’ was his favourite poem and that he was grateful to his instructor for allowing him to use it. He added that he was afraid someone else might have picked it first.


He was silent for a few moments and then whispered the words – I wasn’t sure to whom:





Be near me when my light is low,


When the blood creeps, and the nerves prick


And tingle; and the heart is sick,


And all the wheels of being slow.





Be near me when the sensuous frame


Is rack’d with pangs that conquer trust;


And time, a maniac scattering dust,


And life, a fury slinging flame.





Be near me when my faith is dry,


And men the flies of latter spring,


That lay their eggs, and sting and sing


And weave their petty cells and die.





Be near me when I fade away,


To point the term of human strife,


And on the low dark verge of life


The twilight of eternal day.





I was careful to keep looking at the code card. There was nothing more that I could say to him. But there was one thing that I could do.


Without telling anyone, I ordered a car and went to meet the coders of Grendon.





Every girl in the code room at Station 53 could have walked out of her job at a month’s notice. They were all in the FANY, a volunteer organ-isation whose members could resign at will. The average age of these girls was twenty, though there was a sprinkling amongst them of watchful matriarchs, and most of them had been selected as coders on an arbitrary basis because they happened to be available when coders were wanted. After the briefest training they were despatched to one of the most secret establishments in England and left to get on with it. They were never allowed to meet the agents whose traffic they handled and who were only code names to them. The Gestapo had no more reality for these girls than when they’d joined the FANY.


As I opened the door of the lecture room, forty of them stood to attention. I wasn’t sure how to get them to sit down again and made a vaguely royal gesture which had no immediate effect. I walked up to the blackboard at the far end of the room, wrote out a message in code which I hoped was legible and turned to face them.


It was the first time I’d ever given a lecture except to the one or two girls I’d taken out. I wasn’t prepared for their impact en masse.


I spotted two gigglers at the back of the room and talked only to them for the first five minutes – about agents in the field and the risks they took to send messages to us. I quoted verbatim from a telegram Dansey had shown me only two nights ago about a Yugoslav partisan, eighteen years old, who had been caught with a wireless transmitter, had refused to betray the organiser whose messages he was sending and was eventually taken to the mortuary ‘no longer recognisable as a human being’. They didn’t handle Yugoslav traffic. There was a sudden urgency in that room to handle the Gestapo.


I asked them to help break the message on the blackboard as if they were the Gestapo; I showed them what enemy cryptographers would look for if they had intercepted the message. I began to anagram and asked them to join in. They were shy at first – but soon suggestions were being called out from all round the room and those from ‘the gigglers’ were amongst the brightest. I reserved them for Paul.


It was oversimplified, of course, but it gave them the ‘feel’ of code-breaking, and the principles they were shown were absolutely valid.


I let them finish the message themselves. The clear-text read: ‘From the coders of Grendon to the agents of SOE. THERE SHALL BE NO SUCH THING AS AN INDECIPHERABLE MESSAGE.’


I knew I would be overloading the girls if I continued but I couldn’t resist it. I wanted them to see how the enemy would now mathematically reconstruct the five words on which the message had been encoded.


It took them twenty minutes to recover those words but no one could identify the rest of the poem. I spoke it to them in full: ‘ “Be near me when my light is low …”’


Two days later they sent me a message on the teleprinter: ‘WE HAVE BROKEN OUR FIRST INDECIPHERABLE. THE CODERS OF GRENDON.’


I sent them a message of congratulations on behalf of all agents. The pilot light in SOE’s code room had started to burn.




THREE


A Collector’s Item


By July ’42 I felt sufficiently at home to rummage through the Top Secret documents on Dansey’s desk while he and Owen were conferring with Ozanne. Remembering that ‘You mustn’t judge a book by its cover’ was not only an agent’s code phrase but a Marks & Co. house rule, I ignored all the Top Secret documents, and selected for my further education an innocuous-looking folder which was lying in an in tray.


It contained a prime collector’s item: a situation report on the Free French, ‘For Most Limited Distribution Only’. It soon became apparent even to my racing eyes that SOE and de Gaulle were too busy belittling each other’s achievements to learn from each other’s mistakes. The report also made clear that the in-fighting between de Gaulle and SOE had infected our policymakers. They were unanimous that France was the life’s blood of SOE but couldn’t decide whether the formidable Frenchman should be treated as a valued ally or an internal haemorrhage. The sound of Dansey’s footsteps stopped the rush of de Gaulle’s blood to my head.


The report made no reference to a concession which SOE had made to de Gaulle in the interests of Anglo-French relations. It was a concession which amounted to a licence to lose agents and in the midnight privacy of my cubbyhole I referred to it as ‘the Free French fuck-up’.


It was otherwise known as General de Gaulle’s secret code.





Although de Gaulle, when he first occupied London in 1940, had had nothing he could call his own except France, and badly needed wireless facilities to tell her so, he had insisted at the outset of his negotiations with SOE that all Free French agents must be allowed to use a secret French code in addition to the one which SOE would provide.


Our embryonic organisation, having to fight for its life in the Cabinet as well as in the field, didn’t wish to risk losing the Free French forces without having had a chance to evaluate them, and agreed to the use of a secret French code on one condition: the clear-texts of all messages in this code were to be distributed at once to RF section, which SOE had formed to deal exclusively with the Free French. General de Gaulle gave his undertaking, the principle was established and both sides agreed that there was to be no departure from it.


SOE then laid on a special drill to implement this decision, which was sufficiently convoluted to keep all parties happy: whenever a message was received from the field with a prefix denoting that it was in secret French code, Station 53 teleprinted it to Dansey’s distribution department – which then passed it to RF section, which then passed it to General de Gaulle’s Duke Street headquarters, which then decoded it and passed it back en clair to RF section – which passed it back to DDD (Dansey’s distribution department) for circulation.


Conversely, messages to the field were handed over in code to RF section, with the en clair texts, and RF section then passed them to DDD, which then transmitted the code messages to Station 53, which then transmitted them.


This had become accepted procedure and no one saw the slightest reason to disturb it. Nor had anyone in SOE raised the minor matter of what kind of code the Free French were using. I hoped that they kept it as secret from the Germans as they did from us.


I watched these messages passing through the code department like distinguished strangers. And what distinguished them more than anything else was that one out of every three was indecipherable. I wasn’t allowed to break them, nudge Duke Street into breaking them or provide any kind of first aid for them whatever.


They were de Gaulle’s untouchables. And every one of them reduced our battle cry ‘There shall be no such thing as an indecipherable message’ to the level of a good intention.


Nor did they promote mutual confidence at my briefing sessions with the Free French. It was hard to face the agents knowing that I could help them when they made mistakes in their British code but must look the other way when they made them in their French.


But, as Dansey firmly and sympathetically pointed out, it was de Gaulle’s code; SOE had agreed to cede all jurisdiction over it, and the decision was irreversible. He advised me, though it had the force of an order, ‘to leave well enough alone’.


I enquired whether he meant ‘sick enough alone’ and turned to go.


‘Keep up the good work,’ he said.


The only good work I was party to was being done by the coders of Grendon, who regarded an agent’s indecipherable as a personal affront and did their best to scratch its eyes out. They had begun performing with the precision of relay racers and, by passing the baton of indecipherables from one eager shift to another, had succeeded in breaking 80 per cent of them within a few hours.


The bloody-minded ones which didn’t respond, such as Einar Skinnarland’s, they grudgingly passed on to me.


I visited the coders as often as I could to suggest quicker ways to the finishing post, to brief them about new agents, and because I enjoyed the illusion of their undivided attention. Unfortunately, during one of these visits I was in the middle of explaining that the Free French were the only agents burdened with a secret code of which de Gaulle allowed us to know nothing and that the strain of having to use two systems caused the agents to send an inordinate number of indecipherables in their British codes, when Ozanne waddled in on a state visit. I immediately stopped referring to a forbidden subject but His Signals Majesty summoned me to his office to declare my interest.


I explained that indecipherables in secret French code had shot up by an alarming 12 per cent, and that Duke Street seemed to make no effort to break them. I then broke off on compassionate grounds as Ozanne’s complexion had suddenly begun to match the colour of his tabs and I suspected that his blood pressure had shot up by an alarming 100 per cent. He left me in no doubt whatever that if I wished to keep my job I was never again to discuss, question or even think about the secret French code. It was entirely de Gaulle’s business and anyone who didn’t understand this had no place in the Signals directorate. He reminded me that I was there ‘simply to keep an eye on agents’ traffic’, and was kind enough to add that he had heard good reports about me from Pollock and Dansey. He then assured me that if I had any important problems, I could always bring them direct to him.


A week later a Free French wireless operator was captured by the Gestapo while he was still on the air. He had begun to sign off after transmitting a message 250 letters long with a prefix denoting that it was in secret French code. Duke Street released the text of this message early next morning. It was a repeat of an indecipherable he had sent a week earlier and ended with an apology from the agent for his mistake in coding.


I waited until Dansey and Owen had left, then locked the door of my office and set about unlocking de Gaulle’s secret code.


My first step was to select a dozen outgoing messages in secret code, a dozen incoming, and compare them with the en clair texts which Duke Street had sent us.


This was not an exercise in cryptography. With the facilities at my disposal it was a game of Scrabble played with General de Gaulle’s counters.


I gave the secret French code the nudge it needed.


I couldn’t, or wouldn’t, believe the result.


There was no secret French code. The Free French were passing all their traffic in the British poem-code and disguising it from us by using a secret indicator system.


Whenever Duke Street and an agent communicated with each other in ‘secret’ French code, they chose five words from their British poem-code and encoded their message in the usual way. The difference was that they used their secret indicator system to inform each other – but conceal from SOE – which words they had chosen.


Technically it meant that SOE’s fragile poem-codes were being used for two sets of traffic, when they could scarcely stand the strain of one. As an additional side effect, every time an indecipherable was re-encoded in ‘secret’ French code it would be so easy for the interception service to identify that the operator was virtually advertising his whereabouts in neon-lit Morse.


I could see only one answer to this and set about providing it. I worked out the secret indicator system of every Free French agent and got a timetable from Grendon of their wireless schedules so that I could be ready to decode the secret French traffic the moment it arrived.


I now had to lay on a special procedure sufficiently simple to avoid arousing suspicion. This was the high-risk part of the operation.


The teleprinter operators were used to my wandering into their office brooding over indecipherables, thinking up poems or cadging tea. I told the supervisor that Duke Street had been complaining about mutilations in traffic from the field and that, in future, I had to check all incoming messages in secret French code before they were sent to Duke Street. She didn’t question this at all and handed me a message in secret French code which had just come in from Salmon’s operator. I reeled Salmon’s code conventions into the lavatory for maximum priv-acy, looked up his secret French indicator, applied it – found that the message was perfectly encoded, remembered to pull the chain and returned it to the distribution department within ten minutes.


It was the start of an interception service which I expected to be blown at any moment, but once the drill was established the girls never questioned it.


As soon as a message was received from the field in ‘secret’ French code, I collected it for ‘checking’ and deciphered it before Duke Street had a chance to see it. If it was properly encoded, it was sent round to them at once. If it turned out to be indecipherable, I broke it as quickly as I could and then re-encoded it accurately in secret French code so that Free French headquarters could read their own traffic. It was at worst only a fringe infringement of de Gaulle’s privacy.


Fortunately for the resources of a one-man code room the proportion of messages sent in secret French code was small (a little over 5 per cent) and my main problem in handling the traffic was that I was far too careless ever to have offered myself a job. On one humiliating occasion I broke an indecipherable, made a mistake in re-encoding it and sent Duke Street an indecipherable of my own. None of the messages in ‘secret’ French code were operational: they were always confined to political or administrative matters. Why de Gaulle had made such an issue of using this code was none of my business. Being accurate was.


One night I was engaged in this particular labour of hate when, without any warning, the head of SOE walked in. He was known to his organisation as ‘CD’, a tiny symbol to embrace so vast a man. Despite his size, Sir Charles Hambro could move very quietly and was prone to prowl corridors. His tours of inspection were always unexpected. He had seen a light on in my office and had come to investigate.


Sir Charles looked at me intently, as if trying to recall where he had seen me before. I willed him one of my blockages.


CD didn’t know it, but we were neighbours. He had taken a flat in Park West, a Hambro-sized block in Edgware Road, which for him was only a stride away from Baker Street. My parents and I had lived there since the building had first opened, a comment on its durability. Our flat overlooked Sir Charles’s and we had an excellent view of his bathroom window. CD was very security-minded when the blackout was on but relaxed his vigilance the moment it wasn’t. We frequently had the privil-ege of watching the oversized banker wedged in his undersized bath, and Father suggested that he farted his way out.


It was in a very much larger bath that CD had watched a gymkhana of my own.


Park West had a swimming pool with a special facility for those requiring even more rigorous exercise than that on offer in their one-room flats. It consisted of thirty or so ropes suspended from the ceiling with steel rings attached to the ends of them. These ropes stretched across the entire length of the pool, a few feet above the water. To cultivate the muscles necessary for my dealings with the Signals directorate, I swung across these ropes forty or fifty times a morning with obsessive regularity. To vary the monotony, and because it was the only physical risk I had yet taken in the war, I frequently performed this exercise fully clothed. One particular morning I was swinging happily from ring to ring like a trainee gorilla, with my gas mask dangling from my shoulder and my bowler hat jammed firmly over my eyes, when I peered up at the balcony to see the head of SOE staring down at me with riveted astonishment. I was taught manners at St Paul’s, if nothing else, tried to raise my hat, and seconds later gazed respectfully up at him from the bottom of the pool.


Now, as he filled the doorway of my office, I was once again in the deep end. There were one or two items on my desk which CD must on no account see. I stood up, which made no appreciable difference to the view, and introduced myself. CD’s bald head hovered over my desk like a barrage balloon over suspect territory. I believed that most merchant bankers were bent and hoped that this one couldn’t read backwards. He sat down and enquired what I was doing.


‘Breaking an indecipherable, sir.’


‘Oh? An indecipherable. Oh. Whose?’


‘His code name’s Asparagus, sir. He’s one of Major Buckmaster’s agents.’


The broken indecipherable lying in front of me contained several references to mon général which CD was unlikely to mistake for Maurice Buckmaster of F section even at the end of his longest day. CD expressed interest in seeing the message and held out a giant hand. There was nothing I could do but shake it. Prompt diversionary action was necessary. I grabbed a sheet of paper covered in figures and ash, told him that these were my calculations for breaking the message and proceeded to improvise a mathematical explanation. The figures were, in fact, my attempts to work out my monthly salary after the finance department had deducted tax. Fortunately CD was quite prepared to believe that codes were beyond him. A few moments later he professed himself very impressed by what he had seen and got up to go. I had no wish to delay him.


‘I was under the impression’, CD said quietly, ‘that Asparagus was Dutch.’


I felt like melted butter.


He was right, of course. Vegetables such as Cucumber, Broccoli and Kale were code names for Dutch agents, who had been very much on my mind that day.


The ineptitude of this lie to CD was the moment of truth for the shape of codes to come. It convinced me, and I could never go back on it, that the traditional theory that all agents must memorise their codes was totally wrong.


If a healthy ‘swinging’ young man, in no danger at all except from himself, could allow his unconscious to express its tensions in a lie which even his dear old dad would have seen through, then how much worse must it be for agents under duress struggling to remember their false names, their imaginary families and the hundreds of other detailed lies on which their survival depended. I was determined to give them a code which would protect them instead of their having to protect it, or I would leave SOE.


I cleared what remained of my throat. ‘Do the country sections ever admit if their agents are caught?’


That held him, and he asked me what I meant. Unsure of how much of this would be filtered back to Ozanne, I said that the security checks SOE was using seemed to be very unreliable; and it was curious that although certain agents, particularly the Dutch, consistently omitted their security checks, their country sections ignored the implication that they might have been caught.


Looking at me intently, Hambro asked how long I had been with SOE. When I told him two months, he instructed me to continue asking questions until I found the right answers, his tone suggesting that he knew this would not be easy. He then said that it was time I went home and strode down the corridor like an elephant in slippers.


An hour later he was running his bath.


*


SOE regarded the Signals directorate as a benign post office which delivered the mail more or less on time, could be given a kick in the transmitters if it didn’t, but never caused anyone the slightest bother. The last thing the country sections expected was that a junior member of that inoffensive directorate would call on them – on the absurd pretext that the new codes he was devising must be shaped to meet their long-term requirements. Many times during that fact-finding tour I felt as if I were travelling across Europe in a carrycot with a suspect visa.


No matter which country section I visited, everything was in short supply except confusion, and it was easy to mis-assess country-section officers because the constant need for improvisation made it difficult to distinguish the few who understood their jobs from the majority who didn’t.


That was the marvellous and the terrifying part of SOE in its adolescence: it was pitted and pockmarked with improbable people doing implausible things for imponderable purposes and succeeding by coincidence. One thing alone made it worth the price of the ticket. It was at the low levels at which I mixed – amongst the people SOE didn’t really know it had – that the excitement of discovery really lay. It peaked and stayed there whenever I met the proud holder of the title ‘Chairman of the Awkward Squad’ – Flight Lieutenant Yeo-Thomas, who was one day to change his name by resistance-movement deed poll to ‘the White Rabbit’.


‘Our Tommy’ certainly wasn’t everyone’s Tommy. Many people in SOE disliked him intensely but that wasn’t his only recommendation. He spoke bilingual French and had spent most of his life in France amongst Frenchmen. In 1939 he was general manager of one of the world’s most famous fashion houses – Molyneux of Paris, then at the haute of its couture. He ‘persuaded’ the RAF to let him enlist as a ranker at the age of thirty-eight. Three years later it was SOE’s turn and he joined RF section as pilot officer.


Not even SOE could miss his immediate impact on the Duke Street intransigents. To his superiors’ astonishment he was able to criticise the Free French to their faces without causing a national temper tantrum and was the only Englishman actually welcomed into Duke Street by de Gaulle’s fearsome right fist, young Colonel Passy. After Churchill, the man Tommy most admired was de Gaulle, and the Free French respected him for it even if Baker Street didn’t. But there was one aspect of Tommy’s conduct which worried SOE’s hierarchy even more than his loyalty to Duke Street. He had earned his coveted title because he refused to obey SOE’s house rule forbidding officers of different country sections from exchanging information. Tommy was always prepared to compare notes on the Gestapo, and similar obscenities, with anyone in SOE of whatever nationality; in the insularity which passed for security, few responded.


He hadn’t waited till the Christmas after next to see for himself how indecipherables were broken. He’d looked in a few nights after our first meeting and ever since then we’d indulged in a series of late-night chat shows during which we exchanged grievances, and shared the Havana cigars which I’d stolen from my father.


There were only two subjects which we never referred to. I didn’t tell him that I was keeping a ‘watching brief’ on de Gaulle’s secret code, and Tommy for his part never tried to involve me in a discussion about the rival French section run by Buckmaster, which recruited from those who owed no allegiance to de Gaulle. He disapproved of the principle of there being two French sections to win one war and left it at that.


One smoky midnight, when I hadn’t seen him for about a week and was almost missing him, I was struggling with an indecipherable from a Norwegian wireless operator named Gunwald Tomstad. Wilson had told me that the Admiralty was anxiously waiting to read Tomstad’s message and wanted to pass its contents to ‘a former naval person’. And then, as if reference to Churchill was not sufficient incentive, Wilson proceeded to warn me that if we hadn’t broken the message before Tomstad’s next schedule – which was only a few hours away – he would order him to re-encode and repeat it no matter what the consequences.


I thought of all the things Tomstad had done right as I tried to rectify what he hadn’t.


He was a farmer who lived near a seaport and regularly reported the movements of U-boats. He seemed to regard submarines as an extension of his livestock and his reports had already despatched six to market, with two ‘possibles’. But U-boat spotting was only the fringe of farmer Tomstad’s war effort.


In 1941 he had been wireless operator for Odd Starheim (code name Cheese) and had sent a message from Starheim reporting that four German warships were hiding in a fjord. The Admiralty immediately despatched the Prince of Wales and the Hood, and the subsequent sinking of the Bismarck and the crippling of the Prinz Eugen were directly attributable to Starheim’s messages and Tomstad’s operating.


Starheim was now back in London giving Wilson no peace until he was allowed to join Tomstad and demanding to know the content of his latest message.


I tried my thousandth key without success. There was little time left. I didn’t hear the door open but knew who was standing there.


Tommy recognised the symptoms of ‘indecipherabilititis’ and asked if he could help. I told him the bastard indecipherable wasn’t from France. He shot me a tommy-gun look of utter contempt, then took off his tunic and sat down at the desk.


He spent the next two hours doing the dull, routine job of checking my worksheets without really understanding them, but it was help beyond price to Tomstad and me. We pierced the indecipherable’s hull at three in the morning (‘cruiser in harbour disguised as island with tree in the middle’). Tommy didn’t even glance at the clear-text. I’d have liked to tell him that it might soon be on its way to the man he most admired, a ‘former naval person’ – but I couldn’t. I went into Dansey’s office, closed the door and read the clear-text on the ‘scrambler’ to the Norwegian duty officer.


I returned to my office to finish the job.


The coders of Grendon had done all they could to break that message, and they deserved the satisfaction of succeeding. I telephoned the night supervisor and told her that I hadn’t broken the message and was on my way home. I suggested twenty or so keys, including the correct one, and asked her to pass them to the night squad. I reminded her that if they did have any success, the message must be teleprinted to London marked ‘Absolute Priority’. I wished them better luck than I’d had.


Tommy studied me thoughtfully as I gave him his cigar. ‘How old are you?’ he asked.


‘Twenty-three.’ I was tempted to be more specific and add ‘next month’; I enjoyed presents.


He gave me one: ‘Would you like’, he asked, ‘to tell me what’s worrying you?’


I memorised the way he said it so that I could try it on the coders.


‘Thanks, Tommy. But it would take all night.’


‘I’ve got all night.’


‘It’s the poem-code! It has to go.’


‘Tell me why. And then tell me what you think should replace it.’


I spared him nothing. My worry had a technical name: transposition keys. They were the code equivalent of an anxiety neurosis.


Every agent had to work out his transposition keys before he could either send a message or decode one from us. I wanted Tommy to see for himself the kind of effort this involved in the soothing atmosphere of occupied Europe.


I asked him if there were any particular poem or phrase he would like to use; he left it to me. I wrote one out and told him it was based on an SOE opinion poll:
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Alphabetically, the earlier letter in that phrase is a. I asked him to put the figure 1 beneath it.
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Then the figure 2 beneath the second a, a 3 beneath the third, a 4 beneath the fourth:
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The next letter is E. I asked him to put a 5 beneath it. Then 6 and 7 beneath the remaining Es.
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Without waiting to be asked, Tommy continued numbering the rest of the letters in alphabetical order until we were looking at:











	

Y




	

E




	

O




	






	

T




	

H




	

O




	

M




	

A




	

S




	






	

I




	

S




	






	

A




	






	

P




	

A




	

I




	

N




	






	

I




	

N




	






	

T




	

H




	

E




	






	

A




	

R




	

S




	

E









	

25.




	

5.




	

16.




	






	

23.




	

8.




	

17.




	

13.




	

1.




	

20.




	






	

10.




	

21.




	






	

2.




	






	

18.




	

3.




	

11.




	

14.




	






	

12.




	

15.




	






	

24.




	

9.




	

6.




	






	

4.




	

19.




	

22.




	

7.















That numbered phrase was called a transposition key. I broke the good news that all messages were encoded on a pair of transposition keys – so the agent now had to start numbering another one using, for security reasons, a different five words of his poem. An interesting repeat performance with an uninvited audience on the prowl outside.


The slightest mistake in the numbering would render the entire message indecipherable. The smallest error in the spelling would also produce gibberish. The permutations of mistakes an agent could make ran into hundreds of millions – and he still hadn’t started to encode his message.


To do so, the agent used his transposition keys to put his clear-text through a series of complex convolutions not unlike Ozanne’s mind, so that the message arrived in London in jumbled form, where we (hopefully) could unscramble it because we (hopefully) were the only ones who knew what his poem was.


Unless the Germans had tortured it out of him.


Or unless their cryptographers had broken one of his messages – and mathematically reconstructed the words of his poem.


I told Tommy that the poem-code must go and be replaced by one which the agents could not possibly remember. Their transposition keys must never again be based on words, poetic or otherwise. They must be mass-produced by hand by specially trained groups of coders shuffling numbered counters at random.


We would give each agent a series of transposition keys already worked out for him – and printed on silk. To encode a message, he would simply have to copy out the keys we had prepared for him – and immediately cut them away from the silk and burn them. There would be no way that he could possibly remember the figures he had used. They would all have been selected at random – and would be different for every single agent in the field.


Each silk would contain sufficient keys for two hundred messages – a hundred from the agent to us, a hundred from us to him. The greatly increased security of these ‘worked-out’ keys would allow the messages to be shorter. One hundred letters could be sent instead of the existing minimum of two hundred.


The cryptographic parlour game would be closed for the season. Enemy cryptographers would no longer have poems to reconstruct and would have to tackle every single message individually – an undertaking which was anathema to all cryptographers. Every message to and from the field would confront them with a new code, and to sustain an ‘absolute priority’ attack on this kind of traffic would mean that the bulk of Germany’s cryptographic manpower would have to be deflected on to SOE – which would in itself be a major contribution to the war effort.


Indecipherables would be reduced to a minimum because we would no longer have to play the guessing game, ‘Which word has he misspelt?’ The worked-out keys would also be proof against Morse mutilation, which frequently rendered perfectly encoded messages indecipherable because the indicator groups (telling us which words the agent had chosen) were so badly garbled.


Silk itself was easy to cut, easy to burn and easy to camouflage. If the Gestapo or Vichy police ran their hands over an agent’s clothing during a random street search, silk sewn into the lining could not be detected.


All the resources of the Gestapo would not force an agent to reveal a code he could not possibly remember. Destroying his worked-out keys as soon as he had used them must become as reflex to an agent as pulling the ripcord of his parachute.


But there was one thing for which he could still be tortured. His security check. And this to me was the most haunting and daunting issue of all. If we couldn’t solve this problem, we had solved nothing.


For the first time I found myself wondering how best to put something to that silent, motionless figure with his unlit cigar. ‘I need two minutes, Tommy.’


I grabbed a sheet of paper and started scribbling. Tommy would know if what followed was right, and I would be bound by his judgement.


When I’d finished, I wrote something on the blotter in front of me and covered it with an ashtray. I then showed him my scribbling. It was intended to be an artist’s impression of how a silk code would look. All it lacked was the artist:
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The explanation came out in a rush and a jumble:


‘I’m an agent, Tommy, and I’ve been caught with my silk code on me. I’ve destroyed all the previous keys I’ve used but the Gestapo know bloody well that if they can torture my security check out of me they can use the rest of these keys to transmit messages to London and pretend they’re from me.


‘You’ll see that opposite each pair of keys there are five letters printed. These are indicator groups to tell London which pair of keys I’ve used to encode my message. The next pair I’m due to use are the ones at the top – starting 14.2.13.4. The indicator group is CEDQT. After this I’m due to use the next pair of keys – starting 9.10.1.7. The indicator group is PKBDO. But I never use these indicator groups exactly as they are printed. I have prearranged with London always to add 3 to the first letter and 2 to the fourth. Take the indicator CEDQT. C plus 3 is F, and Q plus 2 is S. So, instead of sending CEDQT I send FEDST. Instead of sending PKBDO I send SKBFO. At least, that’s what I’m telling you because you’re the Gestapo. All my previous indicator groups have been destroyed; how can you know if I’m telling you the truth? Rough me up and I’ll change it once again. When do you stop? Now I’ve written on this blotter what my real secret numbers are. If you can guess ’em, these Havanas are yours – and you’ll be the only cigar-smoking Kraut in Baker Street.’


Herr Forest Frederick von Yeo-Thomas sat in silence for a very long time. I didn’t interrupt him – except to say, somewhat nervously, that this was only one of the codes I hoped to introduce.


By the time the security-vetted cleaning women arrived to claim the office, his mind was made up. ‘You’re going to have a hell of a fight to get this accepted. I’m with you all the way. Let me know how I can help.’


I nodded.


‘If it were done,’ he said, misquoting a phrase then being used as a code by an F-section agent, ‘’t were well it were done on the bloody double!’


I agreed. The pails in the corridor sounded like church bells.


He got up to go. Then turned by the door and looked hard at me. He must have had a strong stomach. ‘Merde alors with your new codes.’


He then added – almost as an afterthought – ‘I may soon be needing one myself.’




FOUR


‘Merde alors!’


Scrambler telephones were in great demand in SOE because they were not only proof against crossed lines and wire-tapping but implied that those who possessed them had something to say which was worth overhearing. It hadn’t occurred to me to ask for one of my own but early in September I found that a green telephone with three buttons on it had been installed on my desk, so I must have been doing something right. Pasted across it was a memo from Dansey emphasising that it was to be used for Top Secret conversations only.


I pressed the right buttons to tell Tommy that I had a fresh stock of Havanas, and then contacted the Grendon supervisor to ask what progress the girls were making in the task I had set them of writing poems for agents. I’d made the suggestion a fortnight ago but the girls still hadn’t produced a single stanza. Their supervisor assured me, with the hint of a chuckle, that I would not have long to wait.


I was still pondering the significance of that chuckle when I received an incoming call on the new toy from the commanding officer of Station 53, a benign major named Phillips, who presided over his clandestine estate like a country squire.


Dispensing with the normal courtesies, he broke some bad news in a voice so strained that I considered asking him for proof of identity. ‘Gammel’s here.’


Brigadier Gammel was the commanding officer of the FANY Corps and I knew from a five-minute interview with her that she could cause grievous bodily harm with a glance. The whole of SOE was in awe of her. She was the embodiment of her famous pronouncement: ‘Members of the FANY Corps must at all times conduct themselves like ladies.’


I asked the distraught major if Gammel were causing him any problems.


‘Almost as many as you,’ he snapped. And told me why.


The FANY supremo had arrived at Station 53 on a tour of inspection. After examining the remotest corners of Grendon for signs of impropriety, the bellicose brigadier had walked into the FANY mess, which was normally only marginally quieter than the last few minutes of a Cup Final. But today the acute Gammel ear was greeted by absolute silence. Even more unexpected to the piercing Gammel eye was the spectacle of a dozen or so FANYs clustered round a table totally absorbed in the ladylike pursuit of composing poems. She asked Phillips who had thought of this admirable idea. Mr Marks of Baker Street was given due credit. Gammel then advanced to the table to inspect the quality of her charges’ writings.


She was now on the telephone complaining to Ozanne. Those dear girls, who knew damn well that Gammel was visiting them, had produced samples of hard-core pornography which Marks & Co. would have hidden in a glass case on the fourth floor, surrounded by Bibles.


Phillips read to me the first (and mildest) of the stanzas Gammel had examined:





Is de Gaulle’s prick


Twelve inches thick


Can it rise


To the size


Of a proud flagpole


And does the sun shine


From his arsehole?





He invited my comments.


I told him that the imagery was unusual, the words easy to memorise and the content not at all what the enemy would be expecting. I asked him to tell the girls that I was absolutely delighted with it and looked forward to receiving the rest.


He put down the receiver.


An hour later Ozanne sent for me and accused me of attempting to corrupt the FANY coders. It wasn’t the moment to tell him that almost overnight his open city of a poem-code had taken on a new dimension of menace.


I’d learned from Dansey that there were soon to be operations, infiltrations and campaigns by the dozen in all the occupied territories, and that an unprecedented event was due to take place by the end of ’42: General de Gaulle had given his permission for an Anglo-Free French mission (the first of its kind) to be sent into France to prepare for the Allied landings in ’43, and ‘our Tommy’ was to be the Anglo.


Then there was the invasion of North Africa, code name Torch, which General Eisenhower was planning for November/December ’42. SOE had somehow persuaded Ike to allow an SOE mission to accompany the invading forces with its own communications direct to London and France.


There was also a mysterious operation into Norway referred to in whispers by its code name, Grouse. Whatever Grouse was, it was scheduled to take place any time from the end of September, which was only a few weeks away.


All this new business was a major breakthrough for Baker Street head office but it was potentially an even bigger one for the German cryptographers. The moment they realised that our traffic was becoming important enough to warrant a full-scale blanket attack, the poem-code would provide them with a catalogue of wide-ranging war efforts at bargain prices.


I hurried off to consult the only friend I had yet made in the Signals hierarchy.


His name was Eric Heffer and he was our in-house expert on Ozanne. He was a civilian like myself but had been a captain in the First World War and preferred to be addressed as such. No one was quite sure exactly what his duties were. Occasionally he would leave his office in Norgeby House to wander at his leisure round Ozanne’s kingdom, having the effect upon all of us of a walking tranquilliser.


Despite the daily crisis which surrounded him, Heffer remained permanently imperturbable. There was no known example of anyone or anything being able to hurry him. The one thing he could do with quite exceptional speed was think – a practice he recommended to me.


Producing each syllable as if it were a cigarette he had just carefully rolled, he explained that Ozanne’s real weakness was not so much stupidity as respect for the Establishment. He simply couldn’t bring himself to question their judgement. If the Establishment had decided that chamber pots made first-class transmitters, he’d have had SOE peeing in Morse. Almost doing so myself, I asked a) what the Establishment specialised in and b) whether it had a name.


No longer surprised by anything I didn’t know, he accelerated to a crawl which served to remind me of my progress. The Establishment was officially called SIS (Secret Intelligence Service) though old hands in SOE invariably referred to the rival organisation as ‘C’ (its Chief’s code name), and its speciality was thwarting SOE.


C had been running the British Secret Service (with emphasis on the Secret) since 1911 and were appalled when SOE received a mandate from Churchill in 1940 to ‘Set Europe Ablaze’. Their agents were intelligence-gatherers: ours were saboteurs, and C were convinced that the only thing they’d set ablaze was their agents’ cover. SOE was convinced that C resented any organisation which threatened its monopoly, and the mutual antipathy had the growth potential of an obsession.


In 1941 control of SOE’s communications became a major issue. Our wireless station at Grendon was still being constructed and we were forced to allow C to handle our early traffic. The station opened in June ’42 (the month I joined SOE) and we withdrew the traffic immediately, much to C’s annoyance, as they could no longer monitor it.


Painstakingly Heffer finally turned to the subject which most concerned me. To C, giving codes to their peacetime agents had been a minor problem: there were so many channels of communication open to agents that poem-codes could safely be used, and this in itself was a definition of peace. But setting up two-way wireless traffic for circuits of agents in enemy-occupied territories was a wholly new event for which there were no precedents or guidelines, and by 1940 they had lost most of the agents they had put into Europe. This did not deter them from making a suggestion which threatened the existence of ours.


Ozanne was advised by his friend and mentor Brigadier Gambier-Parry, C’s director of Signals, that their agents were going to continue using the poem-code (or some minor variation of it) as he had no doubt whatever that agents’ codes should be carried in their heads. This was all Ozanne needed to hear. What was good enough for the agents of the British Secret Service must be good enough for SOE’s.


I waited for Heffer to tell me how we were going to transfer codes from aching heads to cuttable silk. But he chose this of all moments to indulge his knack of switching on silence as if it were air conditioning. The captain emerged from his trance freshly recommissioned to announce that even in wartime few battles were won by direct confrontation – and even fewer if they were fought inside SOE. He had several ideas for outflanking Ozanne but would need time to consider them. Drawing on the last of the day’s reserves, he agreed that worked-out keys (which we christened ‘WOKs’ to save breath) should be introduced as soon as possible – but there were ‘one or two other things wrong’ in the Signals directorate which had also to be put right. He recommended me to be patient for a little while longer.


He was too exhausted to tell me the formula.





The ‘one or two other things wrong’ were agents’ sets, signal plans and call-signs.


A signal plan was a WT operator’s timetable and he had to adjust his life to it. He had to be beside his set at certain specified times or risk losing contact with London. If he missed a fixed schedule, he had to wait for the next. But a radio operator was usually responsible for the traffic of other agents, including his own organiser, all of whom had poem-codes but no training in wireless transmission. This multiplied the pressures on him to keep his inflexible schedules irrespective of risk.


Call-signs identified an operator’s traffic to the Home Station and the Home Station’s traffic to him. They were the equivalent of Morse visiting cards and were an open invitation to the Gestapo’s social services.


Signal plans, call-signs and codes were the fundamentals of clandestine communication. But the Signals directorate allowed no liaison between the officers who produced them. The Gauleiter of Signals preferred to keep us apart.


I took a surreptitious trip to the suburbs of Signalsland and it was worth every Ozanne-fraught minute of it. Many resourceful and imaginative technicians had ideas for improving the wireless side of agents’ traffic but, apart from a few minor changes which had slipped through unnoticed, Ozanne had overruled them. I was prepared to leave if he vetoed WOKs.





The whole of SOE was suddenly a department store preparing for the Christmas rush, but all I found in my order book was an indecipherable from Einar Skinnarland. There were four messages from Colonel Wilson demanding that I break it.


A workout with Skinnarland in our private gym would be a welcome respite from the prospect of going fifteen rounds with Ozanne. But the chronic invalid of coding had let me off lightly this time with a minor rupture of his key phrase, and I found the right truss for it in a matter of minutes. The message was written in his usual mixture of Norwegian and English, which was excellent security and the one thing Skinnarland could be relied upon to do properly.


It was only when I spotted two words tucked away in the last line that I realised which of us was the chronic invalid. The words were ‘heavy water’.


They had been distilled by Morse mutilation into ‘heaxy woter’.


I wondered what heavy water was.


There were half a dozen files in Dansey’s safe reserved for the special Skinnarland traffic which had been smuggled into Sweden and then re-routed to London by courier or diplomatic bag. I was allowed access to these files to help me break Skinnarland’s indecipherables but until now the only one I’d studied was the file which contained his early messages. I soon realised why they were locked in a safe.


There were main-line telegrams from CD to Washington; main-line telegrams to CD from neutral Sweden (our men in Oslo were Munthe, Mitchelson and Binney); and main-line telegrams from Sweden to Wilson and from Wilson to Sweden; there was also a ten-page report from Munthe to Wilson (decoded by Dansey) and an even longer one (encoded by Dansey) from Wilson to Munthe.


All of them were Top Secret. All of them dealt with the same subject: the heavy-water plant, the Norsk Hydro, at Rjukan.


SOE’s Norwegian directorate had been mounting a massive intelligence-gathering operation which was astonishing in its breadth and detail:


They knew that in 1941 the Germans had ordered the plant to step up production of heavy water to 10,000 pounds within the next year; they knew how the Germans were planning to transport the heavy water from Norway to Germany; they knew the structure of the plant and its fortifications better than the layout of their own offices; they even knew where the guards were billeted, how many were on duty at any one time and the disposition of the sentries on the suspension bridge between Vermok and Rjukan. All this information had been passed by SOE to the Chiefs of Staff, who put it before Churchill.


The PM immediately asked Professor Lindemann, his chief scientific adviser, for a technical assessment. Professor Lindemann had no doubt at all (he seldom had) that the Germans required this heavy water to produce atomic bombs, atomic rockets and other atomic weapons as yet unknown.


The whole of SOE’s information about heavy water flowed from one source: Einar Skinnarland. He was an engineer at the heavy-water plant. He had helped the Norwegians to build it and he was now committed to its destruction.


Sorry Mr Skinnarland, sir. Code with both eyes closed, if you aren’t already.


The last document – in many ways the most revealing of all – summarised the history of the plant and the extraordinary way in which Skinnarland had been recruited.


The plant and its laboratories had been built before the war on the most isolated spot which the Norwegians could find – the Barren Mountain between Vermok and Rjukan, in the precipice- and glacier-bound wilderness of Hardanger Vidda. The Germans invaded Norway in 1940 and at once took over the plant – forcing its Norwegian technicians (including Skinnarland) to continue working there under supervision.


To find out more about the plant and if possible to recruit some of the technicians, SOE dropped Odd Starheim on to a snow-covered field in Norway in December 1941 and left him to find his own way to the Barren Mountain. It was the same Odd Starheim (code name Cheese) whose previous messages had helped the navy to sink the Bismarck and cripple the Prinz Eugen.


In March 1942 Starheim was introduced to Mr Skinnarland by a mutual friend – and it was sabotage at first sight. Skinnarland agreed to come to London with Starheim, bringing all the information he could about the plant and its fortifications.


Since SOE couldn’t provide the transport, Starheim hijacked a coastal steamer, ordering the captain at pistol-point to change course for Aberdeen. Starheim had also invited a number of other Norwegians to join him on the ‘trip’ so that they could be trained by SOE as saboteurs and WT operators. Tomstad sent a message alerting Wilson that Starheim’s boat was heading for Scotland and would welcome air cover. The RAF, as ever, obliged.


So did Skinnarland. As soon as he arrived in London he gave Wilson the fullest possible briefing about the plant – and in return was given a twelve-day crash course in the craft of sabotage and the agony of coding. In March ’42 he was dropped back into Norway – his first ever jump – and landed on ice near his home in Hardanger Vidda. He reported to the plant, explained that he’d been ill and resumed his job as if he’d never left it. He was now awaiting the arrival of a sabotage team from London.


The four agents who’d been selected to blow up the plant had been waiting since mid-April to be dropped into Norway. The operation had already been postponed three times due to exceptionally bad weather, and they were still in London expecting the next attempt to be made in late September. The code name of the operation was Grouse.


I closed the Grouse files.


Was it coincidence that in three days’ time I had an appointment to brief four Norwegian agents who ‘were standing by to go into the field after one or two delays’? Wilson had arranged this appointment personally (unusual) and confirmed it to me in writing (unprecedented). They had to be the Grouse team.


And when they made their bid to deny the Germans the use of atomic power they would be sending their messages in the poem-code.





I telephoned Ozanne’s secretary and said that I needed to see the colonel on an urgent matter, that it would take about an hour and that I would be grateful if Colonel Pollock could be present. I also requested the use of a blackboard.


She asked me to hold on and a few moments later told me that Colonel Ozanne would see me at ten in the morning. She sounded as surprised as I felt. She then added that Colonel Pollock could not be present; he was away at a training school. That was a setback, because barristers have been known to take kindly to silk.


I spent half the night preparing for the appointment, the other half wishing I hadn’t made it. I needed a booster from Tommy and I tried to phone him but he was still at Duke Street in conference with Passy. I left a message for him to ring me if he possibly could. It was essential to be prepared for a total rejection from Ozanne and I tried to work out a contingency plan.


At one in the morning Tommy phoned. I told him of my appointment with Ozanne.


He instructed me to keep my voice up, not to smoke cigars, under no circumstances to make a joke – and above all to cut off my temper like a silk code and burn it before I went in. I promised to comply.


He then wished me ‘Merde alors!’ – the ultimate SOE benediction.


I’d need it with the ultimate SOE merde.




FIVE


All Things Bright and Beautiful


Hoping Ozanne had cancelled our appointment, I knocked on the door of his Norgeby House office and aged five minutes (the wartime equi-valent of as many years) when I was instructed to enter. He was seated behind a large desk covered with what I imagined were unread signals. The blackboard I’d asked for was a few feet away.


I imparted the good news that I’d come to show him how I believed the enemy would attack the poem-code, and he invited me to take all the time I needed; he had no other appointments for fifteen minutes.


I wrote out two coded messages, one on top of the other. Each message was fifty-five letters long, and by the time I’d given every pair of letters a number he was already consulting his watch.
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Message 2:




	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S




	

T




	

E




	

P




	

F




	

N




	

D




	

S




	

L




	

O




	

A









	






	

15.




	

16.




	

17.




	

18.




	

19.




	

20.




	

21.




	

22.




	

23.




	

24.




	

25.




	

26.




	

27.




	

28.









	

Message 1 (cont.):
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Message 2 (cont.):
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Message 1 (cont.):
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Message 2 (cont.):




	

E




	

P




	

B




	

E




	

K




	

S




	

T




	

K




	

U




	

G




	

I




	

G




	

D




	

S









	






	

43.




	

44.




	

45.




	

46.




	

47.




	

48.




	

49.




	

50.




	

51.




	

52.




	

53.




	

54.




	

55.




	











	

Message 1 (cont.):
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Message 2 (cont.):




	

U




	

U




	

S




	

E




	

E




	

A




	

T




	

R




	

N




	

C




	

C




	

O




	

E




	

















I explained that the messages were mini-examples of our agents’ traffic. They’d been encoded on the same poem using the same five words and were of equal length. This all-too-frequent occurrence was every cryptographer’s wish-fulfilment as it gave him what was known in the trade as a ‘depth of two’.


I glanced round at him. He was reading a newspaper. ‘Quite,’ he said, peering over the top of it.


I asked him what words he thought a cryptographer would look for when he tackled an average SOE message and he picked up one of his signals.


‘Dropping grounds,’ he said, ‘and containers and moon periods. That sort of bumph.’


‘Yes, sir,’ I said encouragingly. ‘And “message begins” and “message ends” and “sorry about my indecipherable”, and that sort of bumph.’


I then suggested that the messages contained the names of some of SOE’s key figures, and that the enemy would try to anagram them. Whose names would they be most likely to start looking for?


After a modest pause he conjectured that his own might be one of them.


Thank God we’d got that far. I asked him if he considered rank to be important. He looked hard at me and agreed that it was. I wrote the words COLONEL OZEANNE on the blackboard.


‘You’ve spelled my name wrong, damn it.’


I apologised and tried to make capital out of it. ‘It’s an uncommon one, sir – but its letters aren’t, except for the Z. That’s the first letter they’d try to pinpoint. Is there a Z in either message?’


‘No.’


‘Sorry, sir. It must be my bad writing. What’s that letter in the top message under number 41?’


‘That’s supposed to be a Z, is it?’


‘Yes, sir, and that’s a D beneath it, in the bottom message. Those two letters must be tackled together. And that’s true of all the other pairs of letters in the messages, sir. That’s because both texts have been encoded on the same transposition keys and put through the same poem-code mangler. That makes our stint much easier, because instead of having to anagram each message separately, we can anagram them together. If we find a word in the top message, the letters in the bottom message should also make sense. If we find a word in the bottom message, the letters in the top message should also form one. So if “Colonel Ozeanne” is on top, we shall soon discover what you’ve got underneath you!’


I showed him what I meant before he had me arrested.











	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

41




	






	






	






	






	











	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

D




	






	






	






	






	

















The only Z in either message was at number 41 in the code groups and D was beneath it. So whatever word lay beneath ‘Ozeanne’, the letter D had to be part of it.


The first step in the anagramming was to write out his name with all the letters from the bottom message which fell beneath it:











	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

T1




	

S11




	

G26




	

S11




	

H2




	

S4




	

G26




	

S11




	

D41




	

S4




	

I3




	

H2




	

H2




	

S4









	

"




	

E29




	

L12




	

I39




	

L12




	

F8




	

D10




	

I39




	

L12




	






	

D10




	

A24




	

F8




	

F8




	

D10









	

"




	






	

Y16




	

U43




	

Y16




	

O13




	

N18




	

U43




	

Y16




	






	

N18




	

T49




	

O13




	

O13




	

N18









	

"




	






	

H23




	






	

H23




	

A14




	

W19




	






	

H23




	






	

W19




	

N51




	

A14




	

A14




	

W19









	

"




	






	

E25




	






	

E25




	

D27




	

S20




	






	

E25




	






	

S20




	






	

D27




	

D27




	

S20









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

A48




	

P30




	






	






	






	

P30




	






	

A48




	

A48




	

P30









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

C52




	

B31




	






	






	






	

B31




	






	

C52




	

C52




	

B31









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54















Cryptographers on a diet of alphabet soup would quickly recognise familiar ingredients, but Ozanne’s appetites lay in other directions and I asked him to look first at the letters beneath the word COLONEL. Were there any words forming? Or familiar combinations of letters? TH, for example, or ER or ON or AN or RE? Was there anything promising under COLON? He told me what he usually found there and finally volunteered that he could see the word THIS. The coders of Grendon would have spotted THUS as well, but at least we’d begun.











	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

T1




	

S11




	

G26




	

S11




	

H2




	

S4




	

G26




	

S11




	

D41




	

S4




	

I3




	

H2




	

H2




	

S4









	

"




	

E29




	

L12




	

I39




	

L12




	

F8




	

D10




	

I39




	

L12




	






	

D10




	

A24




	

F8




	

F8




	

D10









	

"




	






	

Y16




	

U43




	

Y16




	

O13




	

N18




	

U43




	

Y16




	






	

N18




	

T49




	

O13




	

O13




	

N18









	

"




	






	

H23




	






	

H23




	

A14




	

W19




	






	

H23




	






	

W19




	

N51




	

A14




	

A14




	

W19









	

"




	






	

E25




	






	

E25




	

D27




	

S20




	






	

E25




	






	

S20




	






	

D27




	

D27




	

S20









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

A48




	

P30




	






	






	






	

P30




	






	

A48




	

A48




	

P30









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

C52




	

B31




	






	






	






	

B31




	






	

C52




	

C52




	

B31









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54












Couldn’t we find what followed this? Couldn’t we, sir? Couldn’t we? After more subliminal prodding he eventually concluded that the word COULDN’T could be in the bottom message.








	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

T1




	

S11




	

G26




	

S11




	

H2




	

S4




	

G26




	

S11




	

D41




	

S4




	

I3




	

H2




	

H2




	

S4









	

"




	

E29




	

L12




	

I39




	

L12




	

F8




	

D10




	

I39




	

L12




	






	

D10




	

A24




	

F8




	

F8




	

D10









	

"




	






	

Y16




	

U43




	

Y16




	

O13




	

N18




	

U43




	

Y16




	






	

N18




	

T49




	

O13




	

O13




	

N18









	

"




	






	

H23




	






	

H23




	

A14




	

W19




	






	

H23




	






	

W19




	

N51




	

A14




	

A14




	

W19









	

"




	






	

E25




	






	

E25




	

D27




	

S20




	






	

E25




	






	

S20




	






	

D27




	

D27




	

S20









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

A48




	

P30




	






	






	






	

P30




	






	

A48




	

A48




	

P30









	

"




	






	






	






	






	

C52




	

B31




	






	






	






	

B31




	






	

C52




	

C52




	

B31









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32




	






	






	






	

E32









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33




	






	






	






	

K33









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34




	






	






	






	

S34









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36




	






	






	






	

K36









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42




	






	






	






	

S42









	

"




	






	






	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54




	






	






	






	

O54












Progress to date:








	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S




	

C




	

O




	

U




	

L




	

D




	

N




	

T




	






	






	














This couldn’t what?


The letters under NNE were aching to tell us.











	

Top message:




	

N




	

N




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

H




	

H




	

S









	






	

F




	

F




	

D









	






	

O




	

O




	

N









	






	

A




	

A




	

W









	






	

D




	

D




	

S









	






	

A




	

A




	

P









	






	

C




	

C




	

B









	






	






	






	

E









	






	






	






	

K









	






	






	






	

S









	






	






	






	

K









	






	






	






	

S









	






	






	






	

O












Ozanne considered HOP was a promising combination. ‘This couldn’t hop?’ I guided him on to HAP. ‘This couldn’t hap—’? What did hap—suggest? ‘Happy,’ he said. I told him this word hadn’t yet manifested itself in SOE’s traffic. Nor did I expect it to happen. He got there.








	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	






	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E




	






	






	











	

Bottom message:




	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S




	

C




	

O




	

U




	






	

L




	

D




	

N




	

T




	

H




	

A




	

P




	

P




	

E




	

N












The letters above PEN would tell us what Colonel Ozanne was up to.


Letters above PEN (printed downwards for convenience):








	

P




	

E




	

N









	

E




	

S




	

E









	

S




	

S




	

I









	






	

E




	

A









	






	

C




	

C









	






	

S




	











	






	

O




	











	






	

M




	











	






	

S




	














I pointed to the five Ss, and asked if he had any suggestions. None were forthcoming.


‘There is one word beginning with S that everyone associates with you, sir!’


He looked at me suspiciously and demanded to know which word I meant.


‘Signals.’


‘Of course,’ he said.


I chalked it up.








	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	






	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E




	

S




	






	

S




	

I




	

G




	

N




	

A




	

L




	

S









	

Bottom message:




	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S




	

C




	

O




	

U




	






	

L




	

D




	

N




	

T




	

H




	

A




	

P




	

P




	






	

E




	

N




	






	






	






	






	














There was a real eye-catcher, though Ozanne’s were half-closed, in the letters beneath GNALS:








	

I




	

H




	

I




	

G




	

E









	

N




	

F




	

A




	

I




	

P









	






	

O




	

T




	

U




	

E









	






	

A




	

N




	






	

M









	






	

D




	






	






	

G









	






	

A




	






	






	

E









	






	

C




	






	






	

E















I put to my comatose colonel that the word IF was a natural to follow ‘this couldn’t happen’, and that AGE could be the start of the most important word in our joint vocabularies: AGENTS.











	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L




	






	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E




	

S




	






	

S




	

I




	

G




	

N




	

A




	

L




	

S




	

–




	

–




	

–









	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S




	

C




	

O




	

U




	






	

L




	

D




	

N




	

T




	

H




	

A




	

P




	

P




	






	

E




	

N




	

I




	

F




	

A




	

G




	

E




	

N




	

T




	

S















The letters above NTS offered us mercifully little choice (printed downwards for convenience):











	

N




	

T




	

S









	

H




	

C




	

E









	

F




	

R




	

O









	

O




	

R




	

E









	

A




	

A




	

E









	

D




	






	

E









	

A




	






	

H









	

C




	






	

F















FROM was a likely starter; there was an M waiting to oblige at number 22 in the code groups. But ARE was also a possibility.


I asked which of them he fancied.


‘I can see a B up there,’ he announced, ‘and an F …’


And I could see a BF in the room.


‘Let’s leave Signals, sir,’ I said, knowing that I might have to shortly. ‘What else should we be looking for?’


‘SOE,’ he said. ‘Everyone else is.’


A bullseye for Ozanne. SOE would take us in sight of the finish!


Letters beneath SOE (assuming it was in the top message):











	

S




	

O




	

E









	

E




	

S




	

S









	

P




	

L




	

D









	

E




	

Y




	

N









	

M




	

H




	

W









	

G




	

E




	

S









	

E




	






	

P









	

E




	






	

B









	






	






	

E









	






	






	

K









	






	






	

S









	






	






	

K









	






	






	

S









	






	






	

O















We didn’t need to look further than MES. Nor would the Germans. Message begins, message ends, message indecipherable were part of the standard litany at the poem-code’s funeral service. The orisons were:











	

Top message:




	

S




	

O




	

E




	






	






	






	











	

Bottom message:




	

M




	

E




	

S




	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E















The principal mourners may approach the grave and scatter handfuls of SAGE. Letters above SAGE (printed downwards for convenience):











	

O




	

N




	

L




	

S









	

E




	

A




	

D




	

S









	

H




	

N




	






	

E









	

F




	






	






	

C









	

E




	






	






	

O









	

E




	






	






	

M









	

E




	






	






	

















The ‘END’ was nigh.


I needed one more guess from him. I pointed to the last letter in the E column of SAGE: the letter M.


‘That M comes immediately after the word END. So what word is it likely to be the start of?’


‘Marks, I should think. I can’t believe you haven’t signed it.’


‘It’s the agent who has! They usually sign off in the same way, no matter what we tell them. It starts with an M, sir …’


The word was MESSAGE, and the letters beneath ESSAGE completed the internment.











	

Top message:




	

S




	

O




	

E




	

E




	

N




	

D




	

M




	

E




	

S




	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

M




	

E




	

S




	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E




	

S




	

E




	

E




	

I




	

N




	

S









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

D




	

P




	

P




	

A




	

I




	

D









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

N




	

E




	

E




	

I




	






	

N









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

W




	

M




	

M




	

N




	






	

W









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

S




	

G




	

G




	






	






	

S









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

P




	

E




	

E




	






	






	

P









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

B




	

E




	

E




	






	






	

B









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

E




	






	






	






	






	

E









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

K




	






	






	






	






	

K









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

S




	






	






	






	






	

S









	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

O




	






	






	






	






	

O















The messages now shared a common grave.











	

Top message:




	

S




	

O




	

E




	






	

E




	

N




	

D




	






	

M




	

E




	

S




	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E









	

Bottom message:




	

M




	

E




	

S




	






	

S




	

A




	

G




	






	

E




	

B




	

E




	

G




	

I




	

N




	

S















A few seconds later we had the full texts of both messages:











	

Top message:




	

COLONEL OZEANNES SIGNALS ARE THE









	






	

NERVE CENTRES OF SOE  END MESSAGE.









	

Bottom message:




	

THIS COULDN’T HAPPEN IF AGENTS USED









	






	

WORKED OUT KEYS  MESSAGE ENDS.















They appeared on the blackboard like this:











	






	

1.




	

2.




	

3.




	

4.




	

5.




	

6.




	

7.




	

8.




	

9.




	

10.




	

11.




	

12.




	

13.




	

14.




	

15.




	

16.




	

17.




	

18.




	

19.









	

Top message:




	

C




	

O




	

L




	

O




	

N




	

E




	

L/




	

O




	

Z




	

E




	

A




	

N




	

N




	

E




	

S/




	

S




	

I




	

G




	

N









	

Bottom message:




	

T




	

H




	

I




	

S/




	

C




	

O




	

U




	

L




	

D




	

N




	

T/




	

H




	

A




	

P




	

P




	

E




	

N/




	

I




	

F/









	






	






	






	






	

20.




	

21.




	

22.




	

23.




	

24.




	

25.




	

26.




	

27.




	

28.




	

29.




	

30.




	

31.




	

32.




	

33.




	

34.




	

35.









	

Top message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

A




	

L




	

S/




	

A




	

R




	

E/




	

T




	

H




	

E/




	

N




	

E




	

R




	

V




	

E/




	

C




	

E









	

Bottom message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

A




	

G




	

E




	

N




	

T




	

S/




	

U




	

S




	

E




	

D/




	

W




	

O




	

R




	

K




	

E




	

D/









	






	






	






	






	

36.




	

37.




	

38.




	

39.




	

40.




	

41.




	

42.




	

43.




	

44.




	

45.




	

46.




	

47.




	

48.




	

49.




	

50.




	

51.









	

Top message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

N




	

T




	

R




	

E




	

S/




	

O




	

F/




	

S




	

O




	

E/




	

E




	

N




	

D/




	

M




	

E




	

S









	

Bottom message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

O




	

U




	

T/




	

K




	

E




	

Y




	

S/




	

M




	

E




	

S




	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E/




	

B




	

E









	






	






	






	






	

52.




	

53.




	

54.




	

55.




	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	











	

Top message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

S




	

A




	

G




	

E/




	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	











	

Bottom message (cont.):




	






	






	






	

G




	

I




	

N




	

S/




	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	






	

















Ozanne smiled, clearly believing that the demonstration was over. I had some bad news for him.


A code isn’t broken merely because an individual message is. We had now to establish the words of the poem. Only then would we have broken the code itself. That was why every pair of letters had been given a number, though Ozanne hadn’t once asked me their purpose. It was time to enlighten him.


To keep the mathematics of anagramming down to the level of my mother’s housekeeping, I wrote up the first fifteen pairs of letters of each message and drew the last shards of his attention to them:
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Top message:
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Bottom message:
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I now invited him to join me in a game of cryptographic hide-and-seek. Each of these pairs of letters would be found lurking amongst the code-groups:
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The remaining pairs of letters, numbers 16 to 55, had also changed their positions. If we could discover the process which had caused these changes, the game of hide-and-seek would be finished and the life of the code over, because we would be in possession of the transposition key on which both messages had been encoded.


The mathematics involved would be basic but fiddling and I asked Ozanne which he would prefer: to see the process for himself or accept my word that within a very short time we could mathematically reconstruct the entire transposition key on which both messages had been encoded.


My word was instantly accepted.


I wrote the transposition key on the blackboard:





1.16.17.23.11.13.19.9.22.4.21.14.10.12.24.2.20.6.5.7.3.26.25.15.8.27.18.





I told Ozanne that it would take the coders of Grendon twenty minutes or so to convert those figures into the original words from which they came. Did he wish to see the process for himself? Or would he accept my assurance?


He accepted it.


George Washington Marks wrote the code phrase ALL THINGS BRIGHT AND BEAUTIFUL on the blackboard:
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I suggested that German cryptographers might know the words too and that they would now be able to read the rest of the agent’s traffic at will.


‘You have five more minutes,’ he said, ‘in which to come to the point.’


It was there on the blackboard, glaring at him. He hadn’t bothered to ask what ‘worked-out keys’ were. He probably thought they were iron-based laxatives. He wouldn’t need one by the time I’d finished.


I pointed out the overwhelming advantages of a code which could be destroyed message by message, which could not be remembered, which could not be tortured out of an agent, which would allow him to get off the air in half the time it took him at present, which could easily be camouflaged because it would be printed on silk, which would put a stop to the blackboard follies we had just indulged in, and which would be the start of a programme to change the entire face of agents’ coding. I then shoved a sample of a WOK at him like a door-to-door salesman and showed him how to use it.


His expression conveyed what he was considering using it for. Even his blackheads seemed to underline in porous italics his silent rejection of everything I’d said. I shaped my wares to suit Ozanne the expansionist and I told him that the Signals directorate would need fifty girls to produce WOKs by hand and another dozen to check their work. The keys would then have to be printed on silk and subsequently camouflaged. Perhaps the colonel would consider starting his own printing and camouflage sections? We would also need teams of girls at the briefing end of the assembly line to keep every agent practising his WOK (‘use it and destroy it, use it and destroy it’) right up to the moment that he left for the field. We must also make provision for some mistakes of our own and would need a small team of girls to monitor them.


‘Very interesting,’ he said, ‘for a number of reasons.’ He told me that any idiot could stand in front of a blackboard and break a message he’d composed himself. As far as he was aware, the Germans were not in that happy position. Nor was there any evidence that SOE’s traffic was being intercepted, let alone broken. Furthermore, I had grossly exaggerated the poem-code’s insecurity. Properly used, it was perfectly suitable for SOE’s purposes. Moreover, after considerable discussion with experts in such matters he was firmly convinced that an agent’s code should be carried in his head and any suggestion to the contrary was dangerous nonsense.
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